WHOLE-PERSON CAREER ASSESSMENT: INTEGRATING FIT USING INTERESTS, PERSONALITY, VALUES, KNOWLEDGE, AND SKILLS by Zihan Liu

A dissertation submitted to the Psychology Department, College of Liberal Arts and Social Sciences in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in Psychology

Chair of Committee: Dr. Kevin Hoff

Committee Member: Dr. Denise Reyes

Committee Member: Dr. Fred Oswald

Committee Member: Dr. Rodica Damian

University of Houston August 2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to all of those who have played an important role in helping me complete my Ph.D. study. First, I would like to thank my parents, Yonghong Han and Shuhua Liu. You respected every decision I made and offered me both instrumental and emotional support throughout this journey.

Second, I would like to thank two advisors I had in my graduate study, Dr. Robert Eisenberger and Dr. Kevin Hoff, for all of the guidance and support in my research and career. Bob, it was a pity that I could not have your company till the end of the journey, but it was my pleasure to work with you over the past four years. You not only set an example of excellence as a researcher but also made me feel that I could always count on you whenever I needed help. Kevin, I view you not only as my advisor but also as my collaborator and friend. You made me feel that I was not alone when there were challenges in my research and in my life. I would also like to thank my committee members for the invaluable suggestions throughout the dissertation process.

Third, I would like to acknowledge all the support I received from my friends, especially Xueqi Wen, Clare Simcox, and Dongying Ji. Thank you for always being there and sharing all my happiness and sadness. You are the positive reinforcement in graduate school.

Finally, I would like to thank myself. You made it!

ii

ABSTRACT

Career assessments can help people make more successful career and educational decisions. However, most career assessments only measure fit using single individual difference domains that link into a restricted set of occupational variables. This research describes the development and validation of an integrative career assessment, with over 90 links to O*NET occupational variables, that incorporates five individual difference domains: vocational interests, personality, work values, knowledge, and skills. Based on a cross-sectional study and two time-lagged studies, our research indicated that individuals tended to fit best with their current occupations in terms of interests, values, and knowledge, but all five fit domains showed positive relations with career choice. Dominance analyses further found that the five fit domains made unique contributions to predicting subjective career outcomes (career choice satisfaction, job satisfaction, perceived needs-supplies fit, and perceived demands-abilities fit). Interests were generally the strongest predictor of subjective career outcomes, except for perceived demandsabilities fit, which was strongly related to knowledge and skills. Overall, our research suggests that integrative career assessments have improved predictive power for career choice and career outcomes. We discuss how our assessments can be used for different purposes, with different populations, in the current and future labor market.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
Person-Occupation Fit: Conceptual Background	3
Content Domains of an Integrative Fit Assessment based on O*NET	5
Vocational Interests	
Personality	7
Work Values	
Knowledge	9
Skills	
The Present Study	11
Research Overview	15
Study 1	15
Participants and Procedures	
Measures	
Individual Difference Measures	
Current and Ideal Occupations	
Outcome Measures	
Analytic Strategy	
Results	
Study 1 Discussion	
Studies 2 and 3	22
Participants and Procedures	
Measures and Analytic Strategy	
Results	
Studies 2 and 3 Discussion	
General Discussion	26
Practical Implications	
Limitations and Future Directions	
Conclusion	32
References	

Appendices	55
A. The Development and Validation of the Integrative Assessment	55
B. A Full List of the Scale Items and Connection with O*NET Variables	57
C. Demographic Information of Participants in the Research	65

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Study 1 Descriptive Statistics of Person-Occupation Fit, Inter-relationships, andCorrelations with Career Outcomes
Table 2. Study 1 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Prolific Sample
Table 3. Study 2 and 3 Descriptive Statistics of Person-Occupation Fit, Inter-relationships, andCorrelations with Career Outcomes
Table 4. Study 2 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Sample of Bachelor's Degree Graduates
Table 5. Study 3 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Sample of Community CollegeGraduates51
Table A1. Study 1 Demographic Information of the Prolific Sample 65
Table A2. Study 2 Demographic Information of the Sample of Bachelor's Degree Graduates 66
Table A3. Study 3 Demographic Information of the Sample of Community College Graduates 67

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Study 1 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Prolific Sample	52
Figure 2. Study 2 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Sample of Bachelor's Degree Gradu	ates 53
Figure 3. Study 3 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Sample of Community College Graduates	54

Whole-Person Career Assessment: Integrating Fit Using Interests, Personality, Values, Knowledge, and Skills

Career choice represents one of the most important decisions throughout adult life. Entering a well-fitting occupation is related to a variety of important work outcomes, including increased job satisfaction, reduced psychological strain, and enhanced job performance (Kristof-Brown et al., 2005; Oh et al., 2014). Due to ongoing changes in the economy and technological advances, career choice has further evolved to be a lifelong decision. For example, U.S. adults born during the early 1960s held an average of 12 different jobs from age 18 to 52 years (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019). Various career assessments have been developed to help individuals explore well-fitting careers and educational paths, such as the Occupation Information Network's (O*NET) Interest Profiler (Rounds, Hoff, & Lewis, 2021) and Career One Stop's Skills Matcher (U.S. Department of Labor Employment and Training Administration, 2019). However, most existing assessments focus on single individual difference domains in a disconnected manner. This means that each assessment only considers a limited portion of available occupational information, restricting career recommendations or predictions based on person-occupation fit. Hence, an integrative career assessment incorporating multiple individual differences can better utilize the wide range of occupational information available on O*NET to offer greater utility and flexibility for career guidance and research purposes.

In the current research, we apply a comprehensive set of career assessments focusing on multiple dimensions of person-occupation fit and assess their predictive power for critical career outcomes. Our assessments consider five individual differences—vocational interests, personality, work values, knowledge, and skills—and link each of these domains to relevant occupational descriptors from the O*NET. We focus on self-reports of the individual difference

domains, which can reliably measure a wide range of variables in a short period of time, supporting their use in applied settings where time and resources are limited. Our connection with O*NET further resulted in 90 links to occupational descriptors facilitating the operationalization of person-occupation fit.

Our research offers three major contributions. First, the present research describes the measure development and validation process with the ultimate goal of informing a broad audience about how to improve career assessments using O*NET. The literature has recognized the need for a more holistic assessment to help people identify which occupations can best satisfy their needs and let them realize their potential (Burrus et al., 2020; McCloy et al., 2020). Our integrative assessment offers the opportunity to assess person-occupation congruence on multiple domains based on information from both person and occupation sides. We provide informative introductions to the measure development process, from creating and refining items, selecting and connecting with O*NET variables, to validating and evaluating measures. This can provide future research with a starting point and guidance to build measures utilizing O*NET information and to improve existing career assessment tools.

Second, our research reveals new knowledge about the extent to which the five fit domains predict people's career choices and subjective career outcomes. We examine the interrelationships among five domains and the unique contribution of each domain to shaping career choices and helping individuals thrive at work. These investigations can advance our knowledge about the conceptualization and implication of fit. Examining the relative importance of each domain can also provide useful information for applied contexts. For example, recommendations based on the domains with greater contributions to predicting career outcomes may deserve more consideration when individuals show high levels of fit in some domains but low levels of fit in

other domains (e.g., McCloy et al., 2020) or when there is limited time or space for assessing all domains in practice.

Finally, the current study incorporates three independent samples in developing and evaluating the integrative assessment. Specifically, we include a representative sample of U.S. adults via Prolific, recent bachelor's degree graduates, and community college students. The three samples are diverse in terms of ethnicity and socioeconomic status. Including under-examined populations, such as community college students, in the measure development helps ensure that our integrative assessment can satisfy their needs for career assessment tools and guidance (Gregor et al., 2020; Harlow & Bowman, 2016). We collect time-lagged data in the last two samples to further examine the extent to which the career assessments can retain predictive power for career choice and career outcomes after a time interval. Diverse samples and inclusion of time intervals can strengthen the validity evidence, leading to a more convincing evidence basis to help orient job searchers and practitioners toward an integrative assessment tool for career choice and organizational placement.

Person-Occupation Fit: Conceptual Background

Person-environment (P-E) fit captures the match between a person's attributes and their environment (Barrick & Parks-Leduc, 2019). Multiple types of fit have been investigated under the umbrella of P-E fit. For example, the target of fit can vary from an occupation to an organization, to a job, to a work unit, or to an individual. In terms of the fit domain, multiple attributes have been examined, including fit on interests, values, and personality, in a disconnected manner in previous research. People tend to prefer jobs that can both utilize their abilities, aptitudes, and skills and reward their interests and values (Greguras & Diefendorff,

2009; McCloy et al., 2020). To capture a more complete picture, we consider fit in various domains, including interests, personality, work values, occupational knowledge, and skills.

Person-occupation fit is important in influencing individual career paths. Based on the theory of work adjustment (TWA), congruence between individuals and the work environment in terms of interests, values, and abilities contributes to job satisfaction and job performance (Dawis & Lofquist, 1984). In a similar vein, Schneider (1987) proposed the attraction-selection-attrition (ASA) model that individuals tend to be attracted to, selected into, and retained across time in work environments where there are employees with similar attributes. Holland (1997) also argued that congruence was critical in determining satisfaction with the vocation and career achievement. In support of this view, it has been found that interest congruence is positively associated with job performance and job satisfaction (Hoff et al., 2020; Nye et al., 2017). Fit on personality also positively predicts satisfaction with work (Christiansen et al., 2014). However, despite the well-established importance of fit, previous research is constrained in examining fit on a single personal attribute in a disconnected manner.

O*NET, a large database of occupational information, provides opportunities to investigate the person-occupation fit on multiple attributes. Specifically, there is information on over 900 occupations with ratings on over 200 distinct variables in O*NET (Peterson et al., 2001). For each vocation, both worker-oriented and work-oriented occupational data are provided, such as worker knowledge, abilities, and skills, as well as work activities and work contexts. Thus, the rich occupational data can help connect occupational characteristics with the corresponding attributes measured among individuals, which can further enable assessing fit and helping people explore careers that match their unique attributes across multiple domains.

Different approaches have also been used to operationalize person-occupation fit, including subjective fit and objective fit. Specifically, subjective fit is usually directly rated by individuals regarding their perception of fit with the occupation (Kristof-Brown et al., 2005), which can serve as an important indicator of individuals' satisfaction with their career decisions. Objective fit can be assessed by obtaining the characteristics of the person and the environment from separate sources and calculating congruence (Xu & Li, 2020), which can be useful in making career decisions. Our career assessments will draw upon the O*NET database to capture objective person-occupation fit. Specifically, profile correlations operationalize objective fit using the Pearson correlation between the person and occupational variables (Su et al., 2015). Such an approach can capture more comprehensive information and is suitable when multiple domains are involved because it can consider different domains separately instead of including excessive predictors in a regression. Furthermore, profile correlations can focus on pattern congruence in a given domain rather than a complete match, resulting in greater utility in predicting career outcomes. Hence, the current research will rely on profile correlations between personal attributes and occupational descriptors to reflect objective person-occupation fit in different domains and investigate how objective fit can predict subjective fit perceptions and satisfaction.

Content Domains of an Integrative Fit Assessment based on O*NET

This study applies an integrative assessment to capture multiple individual difference domains in understanding the congruence between the person and the occupation. Specifically, five domains are considered, including vocational interests, personality, work values, knowledge, and skills.

Vocational Interests

Vocational interests, referring to trait-like preferences for work activities and work contexts (Rounds & Su, 2014), are widely examined in career counseling and personnel selection. Interests serve important motivational functions in work life. Specifically, interests can influence individuals' choice of career goals and determine efforts and persistence in the pursuit of career goals, rendering it important in understanding career choice and career success (Su, 2020). According to the theory of vocational personalities and work environments (Holland, 1997), the congruence between interests and work environment will contribute to satisfaction with the occupation, career stability, and career success. Consistent with these claims, previous meta-analyses revealed that interest fit was positively related to job satisfaction and job performance (Hoff et al., 2020; Nye et al., 2017).

Vocational interests have been operationalized at different levels in previous research, including general interests and basic interests. Our integrative assessment tool particularly focuses on basic interests, defined as specific, homogeneous units of interest that group together work activities that share similar properties and represent the same abstract object (Su et al., 2019; Campbell et al., 1968). Compared to general interests, basic interests can capture individual preferences at a more fine-grained level but are still broad enough to have generalizable utility and reflect stable individual differences. Also, given the similarity in content and level of specificity, basic interests can be feasibly mapped onto the knowledge requirements of occupations. For example, individuals who are interested in mechanics may better fit the occupation requiring knowledge of machines and tools. Hence, this study connects individual reports and knowledge requirements of the occupation based on the O*NET database to reflect person-occupation fit on basic interests.

Personality

Personality depicts individual differences in patterns of thinking, feeling, and behaviors (McCrae & Costa, 2008). The Five-Factor Model (FFM) serves as a unifying framework for organizing personality into five trait domains, namely neuroticism, extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, and openness (McCrae & Costa, 1997, 2008). Previous empirical efforts primarily focused on the role of personality in personnel selection, revealing the predictive validity of trait domains and the facets on job performance (Hurtz & Donovan, 2000; Judge et al., 2013).

Beyond that, personality is also critical in shaping person-occupation fit. Individuals find it intrinsically rewarding when they have the opportunity to express personality in work behaviors, so they tend to look for a working environment matching their personality (Schneider, 1987; Tett & Burnett, 2003). In essence, person-occupation fit on personality indicates the extent to which an individual's personality matches the general work style required by the occupation. For example, extraversion reflects a tendency to be sociable and assertive (McCrae & Costa, 2008). Individuals may find it easy to express their extraversion in jobs with a strong social orientation, and it can facilitate employees to fulfill the demands of their tasks, such as building connections with other people, so an extrovert may be more satisfied with the choice of being a salesman. Consistent with this view, previous research has found that personality-based fit based on extraversion, conscientiousness, and agreeableness on twelve job tasks can positively predict job satisfaction (Christiansen et al., 2014). Advancing previous research, this study will examine five personality domains and link them to different work styles according to O*NET to explore the role of personality congruence.

Work Values

Work values, referring to trait-like preferences or relative importance that individuals place on different aspects of work characteristics (Dawis & Lofquist, 1984), are another aspect of an individual's fit with the occupation (Judge & Bretz, 1992). Different taxonomies exist to investigate the structure of work values (Leuty & Hanse, 2011). For example, Minnesota Importance Scale (MIQ; Gay et al., 1971) organized work values into six dimensions such as achievement, independence, and recognition. As a subset of general values in the organizational context, work values can convey what is important to people in work life and guide individuals' work-related goals, attitudes, and behaviors (Ros et al., 1999).

Value congruence primarily focuses on the match between the availability of attributes in the occupation and the values emphasized by employees on these attributes (Swaney et al., 2012). Based on the TWA (Dawis & Lofquist, 1984), a working environment that can continue to satisfy employees' needs will contribute to satisfaction and retention. The synergy between the person and the occupation on work values has been viewed as a primary contributor to career choice and career success (Judge & Bretz, 1992). Meta-analytic evidence further suggests that fit on work values between employees and the organization is related to important vocational outcomes, including job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and turnover intentions (Kristof-Brown et al., 2005). However, relatively few empirical studies examined the influence of value congruence between person and vocation, and the existing categorization of work values primarily focused on global aspects of work. Given the importance of work value in determining person-occupation fit, we utilized the descriptor of work activities and work contexts in O*NET, representing important elements supplied by the occupation, to incorporate work values at a more fine-grained level in the integrative assessment.

Knowledge

Job knowledge refers to facts and principles needed for job performance (Schmidt et al., 1986), which has been deemed as an important type of "career capital" impacting employability (Kamoche et al., 2011). Previous research has identified job knowledge as one of the most important determinants of job performance (Campbell et al., 1990; Campbell & Wiernik, 2015). Employees need to know what to do (declarative knowledge) and how to do it (procedural knowledge) in order to adequately fulfill their work responsibilities (McCloy et al., 1994). Insufficient job knowledge may result in extra time and resources spent looking up the information or asking for others' help and lead to increased errors and problems at work (Hunter, 1986). Hence, job knowledge tests have been frequently used in the personnel section and demonstrated predictive validity on task performance (Schmidt & Hunter, 1998).

As most previous research focuses on objective measures of job knowledge to provide valuable information on career success, employee self-evaluations of knowledge should also deserve greater attention, especially in career decision-making. Compared to job knowledge tests, self-reports reflect individual perceptions of their relative strengths and weakness in various knowledge areas, which may play a substantial role in shaping career decision-making compared to objective measures of knowledge. The congruence between knowledge possessed by individuals and the requirements of the occupation has been incorporated as an important element of person-job fit (Saks & Ashforth, 1997). Specifically, when an individual has the necessary knowledge to perform tasks, they will be more likely to succeed on the job and obtain favorable evaluations. Such advantages may help maintain self-esteem and contribute to increased satisfaction and motivation to retain the job (Cable & DeRue, 2002). Career One Stop's Skills Matcher is an example of self-report assessments widely used in career exploration,

but the lack of validity evidence may limit its usefulness in research (Burrus et al., 2013; National Research Council, 2010). Advancing previous efforts, our validated assessment tool examines self-evaluations of knowledge in various general domains and investigates the match with occupations' knowledge requirements based on O*NET data in predicting career outcomes. **Skills**

Similar to job knowledge, skills are also important in meeting the demands of professional roles, especially during the transition to an information and service economy (Wilson, 2013). The current study broadly defines skills as individual attributes and capacities that can facilitate performance at work, including capabilities to perform various types of tasks and strategies used to acquire and work with relevant knowledge (Burrus et al., 2013; Tippins & Hilton, 2010). Individual differences in work-related capacities and proficiencies may determine the extent to which individuals can adequately fulfill job responsibilities and influence employee performance and satisfaction.

Despite the critical role of occupational skills, much of the available research on skill assessments focus on narrower aspects of skills, such as social skills or technical skills within a particular field (Demaray et al., 1995; Knight et al., 2002; Soto et al., 2021). Previous research regarding fit on work-related skills primarily examined subjective perceptions of the congruence between skills and job requirements. For instance, perceived skill-job matches have been found to be positively associated with employment satisfaction and retention (Allen & Van der Velden, 2001; Ju & Li, 2019). Beyond that, the current study utilizes a self-report assessment of a broader range of work-related skills and connects it with occupational requirements of worker ability and skills based on O*NET to investigate the objective congruence between skills and occupational characteristics.

The Present Research

In the current research, we apply an integrative assessment to examine person-occupation fit in different domains and investigate its influence on career outcomes. Our use of an integrative tool can more sufficiently utilize occupational information from O*NET and better capture person-occupation fit. We structure our empirical investigation to address two central questions: 1) how strongly each individual difference domain predicts career choice and 2) how well each fit domain determines subjective career outcomes.

The first aim of the current research is to assess the extent to which the characteristics of participants' current occupations are consistent with individual differences. Based on the ASA model, individuals will be more likely to be attracted to and selected into the occupations, where they perceive fit with their personal characteristics (Schneider, 1987). As mentioned in the previous section, our assessment incorporates individual differences in five critical and distinct aspects, which may guide individuals to sort themselves into occupations with compatible attributes. Thus, in this study, we expect there will be congruence between the characteristics of participants' current occupation and their personal characteristics. Such investigation can both reflect the role of personal characteristics in shaping career choice and lay the groundwork for subsequent analyses of the five fit domains.

Research Question 1. To what extent do the characteristics of individuals' current occupations converge with corresponding individual differences (basic interests, personality, work values, knowledge, and skills)?

To better understand what is being measured by each fit domain, we next consider the relationships among the five fit domains. On the one hand, the five domains represent distinct aspects of individual differences and complement each other to offer a full mapping of a person's

characteristics. On the other hand, there are common characteristics captured by different domains as well as interplays across domains, leading to inter-domain associations. Hence, examining whether the five fit domains can represent relevant but still unique aspects of personal attributes is critical to developing an integrative assessment. For instance, both knowledge and skills capture aptitudes necessary for individuals to effectively handle job demands, so they should be associated with each other. However, knowledge may focus on principles related to specific tasks, while skills, especially social, emotional, and behavioral skills, also capture nontechnical capacities of maintaining relationships, regulating emotions, and managing goal-related behaviors in response to situational demands (Soto et al., 2021). Hence, there may be a positive association between knowledge fit and skill fit.

As another example, one important function of vocational interests is to direct individuals' time and effort at work, which may facilitate acquiring related knowledge and skills (Su et al., 2019; Van Iddekinge et al., 2011). Individuals with a strong interest in physical science may be more willing to take physics classes and do relevant readings, thus leading to the accumulation of physics knowledge and scientific skills. Advantages in knowledge and skills may also reinforce the development of interests (Harackiewicz et al., 2008). In this manner, fit on vocational interests may be positively related to fit on knowledge and skills. Nevertheless, interests may also be shaped by other environmental factors such as societal norms (Betz, 2007; Fassinger, 2005) and should still represent a domain distinct from aptitude variables. Therefore, interests fit may be moderately related to knowledge or skills fit. Hence, we propose the following research question:

Research Question 2. What are the interrelations among the five fit domains (i.e., fit based on basic interests, personality, work values, knowledge, and skills)?

The next aim of the current study is to assess the value of multiple fit domains in predicting subjective career outcomes after an individual enters an occupation. Our previous discussion suggests that person-occupation similarity in the five domains should contribute to more favorable subjective evaluations of career choices and greater fit perceptions. However, as individuals can show both fit and misfit in different domains, it is critical to explore the relative contributions of each domain to subjective career outcomes. In practice, when time and resources are constrained for a long survey of all five domains, useful career recommendations can still be generated by including the domains with greater predictive validity. We first evaluate the extent to which the five domains are associated with career choice satisfaction and job satisfaction, which capture people's holistic evaluations of their careers and current job. Because the five fit domains capture distinct individual differences, they are expected to play unique roles in influencing satisfaction. Furthermore, their relative importance may vary because individuals can emphasize different aspects of fit when evaluating their satisfaction. Nonetheless, prior research and theory did not provide sufficient guidance with regard to what matters most when predicting holistic ratings of satisfaction. Thus, we examine the unique contributions of each fit domain in predicting career choice satisfaction and job satisfaction in an exploratory manner.

Research Question 3. Which fit domain is the strongest predictor of (3a) career choice satisfaction and (3b) job satisfaction?

We also examine two narrower types of subjective fit perceptions: perceived needssupplies fit and perceived demands-abilities fit (Cable & DeRue, 2002). The P-E fit literature considers fit as both a) the match between employees' needs and preferences and what the environment offers (needs-supplies fit), and b) the congruence between individual knowledge, skills, and abilities and what is required by the environment (demands-abilities fit) (Edwards,

1991; Kristof-Brown et al., 2005). We expect that different domains of objective personoccupation fit may have differential relationships with the two subjective perceptions considering their unique focus.

Needs-supplies fit refers to the match with rewards provided by a particular job, such as pay, promotion opportunities, interesting work, and favorable work conditions (Cable & DeRue, 2002). In particular, we expect vocational interests and values to play an important role in predicting needs-supplies fit. Interests focus on individual preferences for what people like to do (Rounds & Su, 2014). Individuals whose interests match their occupation tend to perceive that the work environment can satisfy their needs for certain types of work activities, so interest fit should be critical in evaluating needs-supplies fit (Wiegand et al., 2021). For example, if an individual is interested in mechanical work, a repairing job can fulfill their preferences for engaging in mechanics-relevant activities, resulting in greater needs-supplies fit. Work values concern what individuals think is important in a job, such as opportunities to help others and autonomy to determine the work schedule (Dawis & Lofquist, 1984). In a similar vein to interests, individuals tend to consider the extent to which what they find important can be provided by the work environment to determine the needs-supplies fit (Edwards & Shipp, 2007). For example, a job where employees can make decisions on their own may satisfy the need of individuals who value autonomy at work, leading to perceived needs-supplies fit. Thus, we propose:

Hypothesis 1. Interests (H1a) and values (H1b) are relatively important predictors of perceived needs-supplies fit.

Demands-abilities fit, on the other hand, reflects the congruence between the job requirements and the person's ability level (Cable & DeRue, 2002). The work environment may

require employees to fulfill certain responsibilities defined in their job, so individuals need to possess relevant knowledge and skills in order to effectively handle these job demands and meet the work environment's expectations (Edwards, 2008). Thus, congruence based on knowledge and skills should be especially important in determining demands-abilities fit. For example, adequate knowledge of customer service and speaking skills may be critical for customer service representatives to effectively meet their performance requirements, contributing to greater perceptions of demands-abilities fit. Thus, we propose:

Hypothesis 2. Knowledge (H2a) and skills (H2b) are relatively important predictors of perceived demands-abilities fit.

Overview of the Three Studies

In the current research, we applied an integrative assessment tool and investigated the research questions and hypotheses in three studies. Study 1 used cross-sectional data from a representative sample of U.S. adults via Prolific to evaluate and refine the measures and examine the extent to which individual differences can predict career choice and subjective career outcomes at the same time point. Studies 2 and 3 advanced this knowledge by testing the predictive power of the assessments for future career choice and subjective outcomes in two samples representative of typical career assessment users. Specifically, Study 2 included recent bachelor's degree graduates and assessed participants' current occupation and career outcomes four months after collecting the individual difference variables. Study 3 included community college students and used an 8-month interval.

Study 1

Participants and Procedures

Participants were recruited on Prolific, an online data collection platform for researchers

to collect high-quality data for scientific research (Palan & Schitter, 2018). Our sample includes 790 participants representative of the U.S. population in terms of age, ethnicity, and gender. After removing cases in which participants failed quality control questions, the final sample comprised 768 participants. Of these, 383 participants were female (49.9%), and the average age was 45.80 years old (SD = 16.06). Table A1 in Appendix C reports key demographic information and characteristics of the participants in Study 1.

Measures

Individual Difference Measures

We developed an integrative assessment to measure five individual difference domains. A brief introduction of the measures is provided below. More details on measure development and a full list of items can be found in the Appendices.

Vocational Interests. Vocational interests were assessed using the O*NET Basic Interest Inventory (BINI; Chu et al., manuscript in preparation), an assessment developed based on preexisting basic interest scales (Liao et al., 2008; Su et al., 2019) and public domain interest measures (Armstrong et al., 2008). Three item scales were used to capture each of the 20 central basic interest scales that can be linked to O*NET occupation variables.¹ Participants indicated the extent to which they enjoyed doing each type of work on a five-point scale, ranging from 1 (strongly dislike) to 5 (strongly like). Sample items include "Repair car engines (Mechanics)," "Study the formation and evolution of galaxies (Physical Science)," and "Create a piece of artistic and functional furniture (Design)."

¹ We also tested the predictive validity of vocational interests aggregating 20 basic interest scales to six RIASEC dimensions. We reported the results with 20 basic interest facets because of the greater predictive power for career outcomes.

Personality. Personality was measured using 31 items adapted from the Big Five Inventory-2 Short Form (BFI-2-S; Soto & John, 2017) and the HEXACO Personality Inventory (Ashton & Lee, 2009). Personality was assessed at the facet level for more information to accurately calculate profile correlations. Sample items include "Is outgoing, sociable (Extraversion - Sociability)," "Is compassionate, has a soft heart (Agreeableness - Compassion)," and "Keeps things neat and tidy (Conscientiousness - Organization)."

Work Values. Work values were measured using the Occupational Values Questionnaire (OVQ; Heimpel et al., manuscript in preparation), an assessment developed based on previous work value frameworks (e.g., Abessolo et al., 2021; Consiglio et al., 2017) and occupational information from O*NET. Participants were presented with 15 items and responded to the extent to which they were important in a career on a five-point scale (1 = not important, 5 = most important). Prior factor analyses revealed a six-factor solution with an acceptable fit, including the following scales: altruism, management, physical, outdoors, salary, and prestige.

Knowledge. Knowledge was measured using 27 items from the Occupational Skills and Knowledge Inventory (OSKI; Thomas et al., manuscript in preparation), an assessment developed based on occupational information from O*NET. Participants were instructed to report their level of knowledge relative to other people on a five-point scale (1 = beginner, 2 = basic, 3 = skilled, 4 = advanced, 5 = expert.). Sample items include "Biology: plant, animal, and cell functions," "Physics: physical principles, laws, and their applications," and "Construction: building materials, methods, and tools."

Skills. Skills were measured using 19 items from the Occupational Skills and Knowledge Inventory (OSKI; Thomas et al., manuscript in preparation). Participants were asked to report their level of skills relative to other people on a five-point scale (1 = beginner, 2 = basic, 3 =

skilled, 4 = advanced, 5 = expert.). Sample items include "Customer service: handling customer needs and resolving service problems," "Speaking: talking to others to convey information effectively," and "Managing others: leading other people and business planning."

Current and Ideal Occupations

Participants reported their current jobs, which were coded into O*NET occupations using the Standard Occupation Classification (SOC). Job titles were recoded independently by two research assistants, and all disagreements were resolved through discussion. Various occupational descriptors from O*NET, including worker requirements and work contexts, were extracted and associated with the corresponding personal variables. We described how personal attributes are matched to occupational variables in more detail in the Appendices.

Outcome Measures

Career Choice Satisfaction (α = .92). Five items adapted from the Academic Major Satisfaction Scale by Nauta (2007) were used to measure individual satisfaction with the current career. A sample item is "Overall, I am happy with the career I have chosen."

Job Satisfaction (α = .90). Job satisfaction was measured with five items from Brayfield and Rothe's (1951) Revised Job Satisfaction Blank. A sample item is "I am very satisfied with my present job."

Fit Perceptions. Six items from Cable and DeRue (2002) were used to assess two different types of fit perceptions: perceived needs-supplies fit and perceived demands-abilities fit. A sample item for needs-supplies fit ($\alpha = .92$) is "The job that I currently hold gives me just about everything that I want from a job." A sample item for demands-abilities fit ($\alpha = .93$) is "My abilities and training are a good fit with the requirements of my job."

Analytic Strategy

Prior to examining the research questions and hypotheses, we first evaluated the measures of individual differences based on the data collected in Study 1 in a series of three phases, including item generation, item content review by subject matter experts, and item reduction and selection (Hinkin, 1998). Appendix A depicts the detailed process, and Appendix B presents the final set of items used in Studies 2 and 3. In Study 1, our analysis investigated the person-occupation fit in five domains and investigated the predictive validity of multiple fit domains on career outcomes. Profile correlations were used to measure fit due to their superiority over other fit methods in predicting career outcomes (Xu & Li, 2020). Higher profile correlation scores indicate a greater congruence between the individual and their current or ideal occupation. We conducted Fisher's z-transformation to transfer the distribution of profile correlations to a normal distribution.

For Research Questions 1 and 2, we examined the mean level of profile correlations and bivariate correlations among them to explore the inter-relationships underlying the five fit domains. For Research Question 3 and Hypothesis 1 and 2, we operationalized the relative importance of fit domains in predicting career outcomes by both bivariate correlations and dominance analyses. First, we calculated the bivariate correlation between the fit index and each career outcome and expected the relatively important fit domains had stronger correlations with career outcomes. Second, we conducted a dominance analysis to compare the variance each fit domain accounts for in each outcome when combined with other fit domains. Dominance analysis is currently the most widely accepted relative importance analysis technique (Braun et al., 2019; Cooper-Thomas et al., 2014). We followed the procedure outlined by Braun et al. (2019) to estimate the unique contribution of fit on vocational interests, personality, work values,

knowledge, and skills. Specifically, we used Braun et al.'s (2019) R tool (domWeightTool.R) to compute the dominance weights for uncorrected and corrected correlations (i.e., correction for criterion reliability) and followed their recommendations for reporting and interpreting analyses. **Results**

Research Question 1 asked the extent to which the five individual difference domains were consistent with the characteristics of their current occupation. Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics of fit indices. In general, there was substantial congruence between the characteristics of participants' current occupation and their basic interests (M = .17, SD = .32), work values (M = .25, SD = .72), knowledge (M = .31, SD = .33), and skills (M = .21, SD = .35). In contrast, the congruence between participants' personality and their occupation's personality demands was relatively low (M = .08, SD = .32).

Research Question 2 concerned the inter-relationships among the five fit domains. As shown in Table 1, the inter-correlations ranged from .05 to .40. Specifically, fit on knowledge and skills were most strongly correlated (r = .40). Fit on basic interests was also closely associated with fit on knowledge (r = .36) and skills (r = .25). Compared to other pairs, there were relatively weak relationships between fit on personality and fit on basic interests (r = .09), work values (r = .10), knowledge (r = .05), and skills (r = .05).

Next, we investigated the extent to which these fit domains predicted subjective career outcomes based on both bivariate correlations and dominance analyses. Research Question 3 explored the relative contributions of the five fit domains to career choice satisfaction and job satisfaction. As shown in Table 1, fit on basic interests was the strongest predictor of both career choice satisfaction and job satisfaction (r = .29 and .26, respectively). Fit on work values and knowledge was also closely related to career choice satisfaction (r = .21 and .20, respectively)

and job satisfaction (r = .17 and .21, respectively). Fit on skills and personality were relatively weak predictors. Table 2 and Figure 1 present the results of the dominance analysis, which revealed similar patterns as shown by bivariate correlations. Basic interest fit had the strongest relative weight for both career outcomes (corrected weight = .07 for career choice satisfaction and .05 for job satisfaction, respectively), followed by fit on work values (corrected weight = .03 for career choice satisfaction and .02 for job satisfaction, respectively) and fit on knowledge (corrected weight = .02 for career choice satisfaction and .03 for job satisfaction, respectively).

Hypothesis 1 proposed that fit on basic interests and values were relatively important predictors of perceived needs-supplies fit. As shown in Table 1, fit on basic interests was most closely correlated with needs-supplies fit (r = .30), followed by fit on work values (r = .17) and knowledge (r = .16). Dominance analysis also showed similar results that fit on basic interests had the strongest relative weight in predicting needs-supplies fit (corrected weight = .07). Fit on work values (corrected weight = .02) and knowledge ranked second (corrected weight = .02). These findings provided partial support for Hypothesis 1.

Hypothesis 2 predicted that knowledge and skills were relatively important predictors of perceived demands-abilities fit. As shown in Table 1, fit on knowledge and fit on skills were closely related to demands-abilities fit (r = .21 and .14, respectively); however, basic interests were most strongly correlated with demands-abilities fit (r = .22). As indicated in Table 2 and Figure 1, the dominance analysis also showed that knowledge (corrected weight = .03) and basic interests (corrected weight = .03) had strong relative weights in predicting perceived demands-abilities fit. These findings provided partial support for Hypothesis 2.

Study 1 Discussion

In Study 1, we found there was substantial congruence between personal attributes and occupational characteristics on basic interests, work values, knowledge, and skills, suggesting that four of the five individual difference domains strongly predicted career choice. Further, these fit domains play important roles in shaping subjective career outcomes. Specifically, fit on basic interests was the strongest predictor of all four subjective career outcomes. Value fit was an important predictor of needs-supplies fit, career choice satisfaction, and job satisfaction. Knowledge was important in predicting demands-abilities fit, career choice satisfaction, and job satisfaction. Our findings of the relative contributions of different fit domains to each career outcome highlight the need to consider a more comprehensive career assessment in making a career choice. However, the data in Study 1 were cross-sectional in nature and were collected from participants of a wide range of age groups via an online platform. It would strengthen the validity evidence to assess the predictive power of the measures for future career outcomes. Also, the generalizability of our findings can be boosted by including participants who are typical career assessment users. Hence, in Studies 2 and 3, we recruited recent bachelor's degree graduates and community college graduates and collected time-lagged data to better answer the research questions.

Studies 2 and 3

Participants and Procedures

Study 2 Participants. Recent bachelor's degree graduates from three U.S. universities were invited to participate in the study via email. At Time 1, 919 participants responded to the survey at Time 1. After removing cases in which participants failed quality control questions, the final sample comprised 816 participants. Four months later, participants who responded at Time

1 were contacted again to accomplish a follow-up survey. At time 2, 397 participants provided valid responses (response rate: 48.7%). Of these, 290 participants were female (73.0%), and the average age was 22.56 years old (SD = 2.56).

Study 3 Participants. Community college graduates were contacted via email for participation in the study. At Time 1, 584 participants responded to the survey at Time 1, and 560 participants were retained in the final sample after quality checks. Eight months later, participants who responded at Time 1 were contacted again to accomplish a follow-up survey. 277 participants provided valid responses at Time 2 (response rate: 49.5%). Of these, 219 participants were female (79.1%), and the average age was 24.65 years old (SD = 7.64). Table A2 in Appendix C reports key demographic information and characteristics of both samples in Studies 2 and 3.

Measures and Analytic Strategy

At Time 1, vocational interests, personality, work values, knowledge, and skills were assessed with the final set of measures in Appendix B. At Time 2, participants reported their current occupations, which were then coded into O*NET occupations using the same procedure as Study 1. Career choice satisfaction (Study 2: $\alpha = .90$; Study 3: $\alpha = .90$), job satisfaction (Study 2: $\alpha = .90$; Study 3: $\alpha = .90$), and demands-abilities fit (Study 2: $\alpha = .85$; Study 3: $\alpha = .86$), were also measured at Time 2 with the same scales as in Study 1. In general, we conducted the same analyses as in Study 1. The primary difference was that we calculated profile correlations based on individual differences reported at Time 1 and the characteristics of current occupations reported 4 months (Study 2) and 8 months (Study 3) from Time 1. Career outcomes were also collected at the second wave.

Results

Table 3 presents the descriptive statistics of fit indices in Studies 2 and 3. For convergence with current occupations (Research Question 1), there was substantial congruence between the characteristics of participants' occupation at Time 2 and their basic interests (Study 2: M = .14, SD = .28; Study 3 M = .19, SD = .33), work values (Study 2: M = .19, SD = .67; Study 3: M = .16, SD = .63), and knowledge (Study 2: M = .27, SD = .34; Study 3: M = .17, SD = .31) assessed at Time 1. Recent bachelor's degree graduates in Study 2 tended to enter the occupation consistent with their skills (M = .15, SD = .34), but not community college graduates in Study 3 (M = .07, SD = .32). In contrast, the congruence between personality and the current occupation was low in both samples (Study 2: M = .02, SD = .31; Study 3: M = .06, SD = .36).

In terms of the inter-relationships among the five fit domains (Research Question 2), as shown in Table 3, the inter-correlations ranged from .03 to .38 in Study 2 and from .07 to .44 in Study 3. Specifically, knowledge and skills were most strongly related in both studies (Study 2: r = .38; Study 3: r = .44). Knowledge was also closely associated with basic interests (Study 2: r = .28; Study 3: r = .31) and work values in Study 2 (r = .22) but not in Study 3 (r = .07). Compared to other pairs, there was a relatively weak relationship between work values and personality (Study 2: r = .03; Study 3: r = .09), partly due to the limited conceptual overlap.

We next examined the contribution of each fit domain to holistic career outcomes (Research Question 3). As for career choice satisfaction and job satisfaction, fit on basic interests was the strongest predictor of both career outcomes (Study 2: r = .28 for career choice satisfaction and r = .21 for job satisfaction; Study 3: r = .31 for career choice satisfaction and r= .30 for job satisfaction, respectively). Fit on values was strongly related to both outcomes in Study 2 (r = .14 for career choice satisfaction and r = .14 for job satisfaction), while in Study 3 fit on knowledge was strongly related to both outcomes 3 (r = .17 for career choice satisfaction and r = .18 for job satisfaction). Tables 4 and 5 and Figures 2 and 3 present the results of the dominance analysis with similar patterns. In both studies, basic interest fit had the strongest relative weights for career choice satisfaction (Study 2: corrected weight = .08; Study 3: corrected weight = .09, respectively) and job satisfaction (Study 2: corrected weight = .05; Study 3: corrected weight = .09, respectively). In Study 2, fit on values ranked second for career choice satisfaction (corrected weight = .02) and job satisfaction (corrected weight = .02). In Study 3, fit on knowledge and skills ranked second for career choice satisfaction (corrected weight = .02 for knowledge fit and corrected weight = .02 for skill fit) and job satisfaction (corrected weight = .02 for knowledge fit and corrected weight = .02 for skill fit).

Finally, we investigated the predictive power for two narrower types of fit perceptions. Hypothesis 1 proposed that basic interest fit and value fit were relatively important predictors of perceived needs-supplies fit. As shown in Table 3, fit on basic interests was closely related to needs-supplies fit (Study 2: r = .21; Study 3: r = .29, respectively). However, fit on work values was not closely related to needs-supplies fit (Study 2: r = .01; Study 3: r = .05, respectively). Also, Tables 4 and 5 indicate that fit on basic interests (Study 2: corrected weight = .05; Study 3: corrected weight = .07, respectively) but not work values (Study 2: corrected weight = .01; Study 3: corrected weight = .01, respectively) has a strong relative weight in predicting needs-supplies fit, partially supporting Hypothesis 1. Hypothesis 2 proposed that knowledge fit and skill fit were relatively important predictors of perceived demands-abilities fit (r = .19), but fit on skills was not (r = .05). In Study 3, both knowledge fit and skill fit were closely associated with demands-abilities fit (r = .18 and .29, respectively). As indicated in Tables 4 and 5, the dominance analysis showed that fit on knowledge had a stronger relative weight in predicting demands-abilities fit in Study 2 (corrected weight = .04) compared to fit on skills (corrected weight = .01). In contrast, fit on skills had a strong relative weight in Study 3 (corrected weight = .08) compared to fit on knowledge (corrected weight = .03). These findings provide partial support for Hypothesis 2.

Studies 2 and 3 Discussion

Our findings in Studies 2 and 3 provided a systematic replication in U.S. recent bachelor's degree graduates and community college graduates using time-lagged data to supplement the findings from the Prolific sample. We found a similar pattern of personoccupation congruence across the five domains as in Study 1. Individuals were likely to choose an occupation consistent with their basic interests, work values, and knowledge. Also, we found similar inter-relationships underlying five fit domains with fit on knowledge and skills most closely related. Further, our findings replicated the importance of basic interest fit in predicting career choice satisfaction, job satisfaction, and needs-supplies fit. Fit on knowledge (Study 2) or skills (Study 3) was found to be relatively important in determining demands-abilities fit. Our findings further confirmed the need to consider multiple individual difference domains in understanding career choice and subjective career outcomes.

General Discussion

Although there have been various tools assessing single individual differences for career guidance, an integrative assessment of multiple domains can incorporate a more comprehensive mapping of personal attributes relevant to making successful career choices (Burrus et al., 2019; McCloy et al., 2020). In the current research, we developed assessments of five individual differences. We conducted one cross-sectional study and two longitudinal studies and investigated the predictive power of the assessments for career choice and subjective career

evaluations in three independent samples diverse in terms of ethnicity and socioeconomic status. Our results revealed three major findings.

First, the results indicated substantial fit between a person and their current occupation in terms of basic interests, values, knowledge, and skills. Despite the dominant role of vocational interests in career decision-making (Putka & McCloy, 2011), our findings suggested that multiple individual difference domains jointly shaped career choices and thus needed consideration in offering career guidance. Hence, the integrative assessment based on O*NET should receive greater attention as it can utilize a broad range of relevant occupational variables and capture a more complete picture of person-occupation fit to better help individuals identify which occupations to consider and explore. This was further consistent with the recent calls for adopting a holistic perspective in developing career assessments (Burrus et al., 2019; McCloy et al., 2020).

Second, the results indicated that different fit domains had unique contributions in predicting subjective career outcomes, including both general evaluations and specific types of fit perceptions. Among the five domains, basic interest fit was usually the strongest predictor of career choice satisfaction, job satisfaction, and needs-supplies fit in three studies. Knowledge fit and skills fit were especially important in predicting demand-abilities fit. Our findings extended the fit research by linking different domains of objective person-occupation fit with different types of fit perceptions and provided insights into the structural relationships and distinct focuses underlying different domains. Basic interests and values primarily concern the needs and desires of a person, while knowledge and skills focus more on individuals' aptitudes and capacities (Wiegand et al., 2021). Hence, integrative assessments of multiple domains are critical in

incorporating these different conceptual focuses and offering improved prediction of career outcomes.

Finally, we applied our integrative assessments to three different samples, and most of our findings were supported across the studies. Study 1 includes a representative sample of U.S. adults. Studies 2 and 3 include two samples of recent graduates, including bachelor's degree graduates and community college graduates. The multi-sample research enhanced the confidence for generalizing our findings to people who are in the critical transition period and frequently use career assessment tools, which should be important target populations in career counseling.

However, we still need to note a few unexpected or inconsistent findings. As for career choice, person-occupation fit on personality was relatively low. This finding was cross-validated in all three studies, suggesting that individuals may fit relatively poorly with their current occupation in terms of personality. Nevertheless, we need to note that personality was linked to work style variables in O*NET, and the quality of incumbent ratings for which may be questionable due to the low specificity and low observability (Dierdorff & Morgeson, 2009).

Inconsistent findings between the sample of community college students and the other two samples were also worth noting. For example, the congruence between individuals' reported skills and the occupational requirement for skills was relatively low in the community college sample (Study 3) but was substantial in the other studies. This finding may imply an existing misfit between community college graduates' skills and occupational requirements, signaling a potential skill gap (Marshall & Craig, 2019). Furthermore, knowledge fit was a relatively important predictor of demands-abilities fit in the Prolific sample and recent bachelor's degree graduates, while skill fit was relatively important in the community college sample. Again, this may be partly due to the sample characteristics. Specifically, individuals may enter community

college to receive practical, vocational training for jobs particularly emphasizing specialized skills and certifications, such as nurses and technicians (Community College Research Center, 2022). The findings of a relatively low skill fit and its increased importance deserve greater attention when combined together. Community college graduates may have a hard time obtaining jobs that fit their skills despite its importance in predicting subjective career outcomes. Community colleges should be informed of their role in providing training in specialized skills required for the high-demand jobs of today and contributing to addressing skill gaps in the current labor market (Sublett & Tovar, 2021).

Practical Implications

The current research has several applications for career guidance and organizations. As a whole, our findings revealed that an integrative perspective to fit assessment could produce added benefits to career decision-making. As such, individuals, employees, and career guidance practitioners should take into account multiple individual difference domains when implementing career assessments or offering recommendations to clients. Incorporating integrative assessments can not only provide individuals with more accurate guidance but also help with lingering concerns about the skill gap and labor shortage (Giffi et al., 2018; Marshall & Craig, 2019). For instance, research has shown substantial gender differences in interest fit scores but comparable aptitude levels across gender (McCloy et al., 2020), both of which were found to be important in determining career fit in the current research. Thus, a more holistic view of personal attributes may lead to improved recommendations for occupations where individuals can fulfill their needs and perform well and help with human capital risk in the current labor market.
Our investigations of the relative contributions of each domain to different career outcomes may lead to improved career services and help satisfy clients' needs under various circumstances. For example, as basic interests and knowledge or skills are relatively important predictors of career outcomes, in situations with limited time and resources, practitioners can primarily focus on vocational interests and aptitude assessments to give recommendations. Furthermore, as each domain has differential predictive power in different types of outcomes, consultants can also select specific domains to be included in the assessment based on the career outcome of greatest interest. For instance, if the client cares about entering an occupation where they are able to accomplish the job demands, an assessment of knowledge and skills may better serve the purpose.

In addition to implications for individuals' career decision-making and career counseling, an integrative assessment can also benefit organizations. Organizations can base on the results of integrative assessments to initiate internal placement plans to better utilize and retain human capital with reduced costs (Bidwell, 2011). For example, management can use the assessment to diagnose the current fit status within the organization, figure out where the misfit occurs, and place employees in a better-fitting position to fuel the workforce.

Limitations and Future Directions

Several limitations should be noted in the current research and require future research. First, in terms of measure development, we used self-reports of knowledge and skills in the current assessment. On the one hand, the use of self-report enables the assessment of many skills and knowledge areas in a short time span, focusing on individuals' self-perceptions of their relative strengths and weaknesses. However, there may also be bias in the self-evaluation of knowledge and skills (Donaldson & Grant-Vallone, 2002). For example, individuals may try to

present themselves in socially desirable manners, and there may be leniency bias in selfevaluation (Borman, 1991). Hence, future research can provide more validity evidence for the assessments of knowledge and skills by examining their relationships with objective measures of knowledge and skills.

Second, we drew upon the O*NET database as a source of occupational information, but there may still be issues with the use of O*NET variables. The O*NET database is based on occupations. Thus, we need to recode participants' job titles into a broader occupation to connect to occupational descriptors and assess objective fit, which may lead to information loss. Also, occupational information on O*NET is obtained from subject matter experts and job incumbents who may not have sufficient knowledge or proper skills to accomplish accurate ratings. Thus, our results may be impacted by the quality of occupational descriptors on O*NET. For instance, as indicated above, the relatively low personality fit index may be partly due to its matching with the work style variables, whose rating quality may be questionable (Dierdorff & Morgeson, 2009). Future research can bring in other relevant occupational variables or databases to improve the person-occupation links.

Third, future research can strengthen our findings using a more refined coverage of predictors. Our research compares the relative contribution of each individual difference domain, but within each fit domain, there are still various facets that may differ in relative importance. Future studies delving into the relative contribution of specific facets can illuminate which specific facets are more important to be included in a condensed assessment. Further, research indicates that over-fitting and under-fitting have different implications for career outcomes (e.g., Erdogan & Bauer, 2021). Because of our broad focus on multiple individual difference domains—with over 90 fit links—it was beyond the scope of our study to evaluate the symmetry

of fit in our predictors. Nonetheless, future research can apply polynomial regression in a single domain of our assessments to study the differential impact of over-fitting and under-fitting. There may also be other individual differences deserving attention. For instance, future research can consider how cultural values or goal orientation may influence the match with the level of competition in a certain occupation and how such fit predicts career choices and outcomes (Brown, 2002; Jaskiewicz et al., 2016), leading to an even more complete picture of personal attributes.

Fourth, the relative importance of different fit domains may depend on other boundary conditions. For example, individuals may seek different things from their job. Some individuals may view their job as a way to support their family (Zhang et al., 2020) or answer occupational calling (Dik & Shimizu, 2019), so they may care more about the extent to which the job can fulfill their needs (e.g., fit on values). Meanwhile, others may identify their job as an opportunity to fulfill their potential at work (Ryan & Deci, 2000), so they may focus more on the extent to which the job fits their interests or capacities (e.g., fit on interests, knowledge, and skills). Furthermore, as both personal attributes and occupational characteristics may change over time, future research can examine the extent to which the stability of each fit domain may impact its relative importance in predicting subsequent career outcomes.

Conclusion

The purpose of the current research is to develop and test the value of an integrative assessment in predicting career choice and subjective career outcomes. Our results across three studies showed that individuals tended to enter occupations fit with their basic interests, work values, knowledge, and skills. Furthermore, basic interest fit was the strongest predictor of career choice satisfaction, job satisfaction, and perceived needs-supplies fit, whereas knowledge or skill

fit was especially important in predicting perceived demands-abilities fit. Overall, our research highlights the importance of multiple individual difference domains in shaping career choice and subjective career success. Students, employees, job seekers, and organizations can benefit by using integrative fit assessments when faced with important career and job placement decisions.

References

- Abessolo, M., Hirschi, A., & Rossier, J. (2021). Development and validation of a multidimensional career values questionnaire: A measure integrating work values, career orientations, and career anchors. *Journal of Career Development*, 48(3), 243-259. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0894845319846567
- Allen, J., & van der Velden, R. (2001). Educational mismatches versus skill mismatches: Effects on wages, job satisfaction, and on-the-job search. *Oxford Economic Papers*, *53*, 434-452.
- Armstrong, P. I., Allison, W., & Rounds, J. (2008). Development and initial validation of brief public domain RIASEC marker scales. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *73*(2), 287–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2008.06.003
- Ashton, M. C., & Lee, K. (2009). The HEXACO-60: A short measure of the major dimensions of personality. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 91(4), 340–345. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223890902935878
- Barrick, M. R., & Parks-Leduc, L. (2019). Selection for fit. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 6, 171–193. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevorgpsych-012218-015028
- Betz, N. E. (2007). The career development of women. In F. Denmark & M. Paludi (Eds.), Handbook of the psychology of women (pp. 717–752). Greenwood Press.
- Bidwell, M. (2011). Paying more to get less: The effects of external hiring versus internal mobility. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 56(3), 369–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839211433562

- Borman, W. C. (1991). Job behavior, performance, and effectiveness. In M. D. Dunnette & L. M. (Eds.), Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology (pp. 271–326). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Braun, M. T., Converse, P. D., & Oswald, F. L. (2019). The accuracy of dominance analysis as a metric to assess relative importance: The joint impact of sampling error variance and measurement unreliability. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(4), 593– 602. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000361
- Brayfield, A. H., & Rothe, H. F. (1951). An index of job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 35(5), 307–311. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0055617
- Brown, D. (2002). The role of work and cultural values in occupational choice, satisfaction, and success: A theoretical statement. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 80(1), 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2002.tb00165.x
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2019, August). *Number of jobs, labor market experience, and earnings growth: Results from a national longitudinal survey*. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/nlsoy.pdf
- Burrus, J., Jackson, T., Xi, N., & Steinberg, J. (2013). Identifying the most important 21st century workforce competencies: An analysis of the Occupational Information Network (O* NET). *ETS Research Report Series*, 2013(2), i-55. Retrieved from https://www.ets.org/Media/Research/pdf/RR-13-21.pdf
- Burrus, J., Way, J., Bobek, B., Stoeffler, K., & O'Connor, R. (2020). The ACT holistic framework® of education and workplace success. *Higher Education Admissions Practices: An International Perspective*, 307-332.

- Cable, D. M., & DeRue, D. S. (2002). The convergent and discriminant validity of subjective fit perceptions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(5), 875–884. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.5.875
- Campbell, D. P., Borgen, F. H., Eastes, S. H., Johansson, C. B., & Peterson, R. A. (1968). A set of basic interest scales for the Strong Vocational Interest Blank for men. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 52(6, Pt.2), 1–54. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0026495
- Campbell, J. P., McHenry, J. J., & Wise, L. L. (1990). Modeling job performance in a population of jobs. *Personnel Psychology*, 43(2), 313–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1990.tb01561.x
- Campbell, J. P., & Wiernik, B. M. (2015). The modeling and assessment of work performance. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 2, 47–74. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111427
- Chu, C., Greco, A., Liu, Z., Heimpel, N., Hoff, K., Rounds, J., & Oswald, F. *The occupational basic interest inventory: Measure development study.* [Manuscript in preparation].
- Christiansen, N., Sliter, M., & Frost, C. T. (2014). What employees dislike about their jobs:
 Relationship between personality-based fit and work satisfaction. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 71, 25–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.07.013
- Community College Research Center. (2022). *Community College FAQs* [Fact Sheet]. https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/Community-College-FAQs.html
- Consiglio, C., Cenciotti, R., Borgogni, L., Alessandri, G., & Schwartz, S. H. (2017). The WVal: A new measure of work values. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 25(3), 405– 422. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072716639691

- Cooper-Thomas, H. D., Paterson, N. L., Stadler, M. J., & Saks, A. M. (2014). The relative importance of proactive behaviors and outcomes for predicting newcomer learning, wellbeing, and work engagement. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 84(3), 318– 331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.02.007
- Dawis, R. V., & Lofquist, L. H. (1984). *A psychological theory of work adjustment: An individual-differences model and its applications*. University of Minnesota press.
- Demaray, M. K., Ruffalo, S. L., Carlson, J., Busse, R. T., Olson, A. E., McManus, S. M., & Leventhal, A. (1995). Social skills assessment: A comparative evaluation of six published rating scales. *School Psychology Review*, 24(4), 648-671.
- Dierdorff, E. C., & Morgeson, F. P. (2009). Effects of descriptor specificity and observability on incumbent work analysis ratings. *Personnel Psychology*, 62(3), 601– 628. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2009.01151.x
- Dik, B. J., & Shimizu, A. B. (2019). Multiple meanings of calling: Next steps for studying an evolving construct. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 27(2), 323–336. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072717748676
- Donaldson, S. I., & Grant-Vallone, E. J. (2002). Understanding self-report bias in organizational behavior research. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 17(2), 245–260. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1019637632584

Edwards, J. R. (1991). Person-job fit: A conceptual integration, literature review, and methodological critique. In C. L. Cooper & I. T. Robertson (Eds.), *International review of industrial and organizational psychology*, *1991*, Vol. 6, pp. 283–357). John Wiley & Sons.

- Edwards, J. R. (2008). Person–environment fit in organizations: An assessment of theoretical progress. The Academy of Management Annals, 2, 167–230.
- Edwards, J. R., & Shipp, A. J. (2007). The relationship between person-environment fit and outcomes: An integrative theoretical framework. In C. Ostroff, & T. A. Judge (Eds.), *Perspectives on organizational fit* (pp. 209–258). New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Scopus.
- Erdogan, B., & Bauer, T. N. (2021). Overqualification at work: A review and synthesis of the literature. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 8, 259-283. https://doi-org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012420-055831
- Fassinger, R. F. (2005). Theoretical issues in the study of women's career development: Building bridges in a brave new world. In W. B. Walsh & M. L. Savickas (Eds.), *Handbook of vocational psychology* (3rd ed., pp. 85–124). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Gay, E. G., Weiss, D. J., Hendel, D. D., Dawis, R. V., & Lofquist, L. H. (1971). Manual for the Minnesota Importance Questionnaire. *Minnesota Studies in Vocational Rehabilitation*, 28 (Bulletin No. 54): Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Giffi, C., Wellener, P., Dollar, B., Manolian, H. A., Monck, L., & Moutray, C. (2018). *Deloitte* and the Manufacturing Institute skills gap and future of work study. Deloitte
 Development, LLC. Downloaded from

https://documents.deloitte.com/insights/2018DeloitteSkillsGapFoWManufacturing

Gregor, M. A., Pino, H. V. G. D., Gonzalez, A., Soto, S., & Dunn, M. G. (2020). Understanding the career aspirations of diverse community college students. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 28(2), 202-218. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1069072719849872

- Greguras, G. J., & Diefendorff, J. M. (2009). Different fits satisfy different needs: Linking person-environment fit to employee commitment and performance using selfdetermination theory. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(2), 465– 477. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014068
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Durik, A. M., Barron, K. E., Linnenbrink-Garcia, L., & Tauer, J. M. (2008).
 The role of achievement goals in the development of interest: Reciprocal relations
 between achievement goals, interest, and performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *100*(1), 105–122. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.100.1.105
- Harlow, A. J., & Bowman, S. L. (2016). Examining the career decision self-efficacy and career maturity of community college and first-generation students. *Journal of Career Development*, 43(6), 512-525. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0894845316633780
- Heimpel, N., Hoff, K., Liu, Z., Chu, C., Oswald, F., & Rounds, J. An assessment of work values based on O*NET. [Manuscript in preparation].
- Hinkin, T. R. (1998). A brief tutorial on the development of measures for use in survey questionnaires. *Organizational Research Methods*, 1(1), 104–121. https://doi. org/10.1177/109442819800100106.
- Hoff, K. A., Song, Q. C., Wee, C. J. M., Phan, W. M. J., & Rounds, J. (2020). Interest fit and job satisfaction: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *123*, Article 103503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103503
- Holland, J. L. (1997). *Making vocational choices: A theory of vocational personalities and work environments*. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources

Hunter, J. E. (1986). Cognitive ability, cognitive aptitude, job knowledge, and job performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 29(3), 340–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(86)90013-8

- Hurtz, G. M., & Donovan, J. J. (2000). Personality and job performance: The Big Five revisited. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(6), 869–879. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.85.6.869
- Jaskiewicz, P., Luchak, A. A., Oh, I. S., & Chlosta, S. (2016). Paid employee or entrepreneur? How approach and avoidance career goal orientations motivate individual career choice decisions. *Journal of Career Development*, 43(4), 349-367. https://doiorg/10.1177%2F0894845315602119
- Ju, B., & Li, J. (2019). Exploring the impact of training, job tenure, and education-job and skillsjob matches on employee turnover intention. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 43(3/4), 214–231. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-05-2018-0045
- Judge, T. A., & Bretz, R. D. (1992). Effects of work values on job choice decisions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77(3), 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.77.3.261
- Judge, T. A., Rodell, J. B., Klinger, R. L., Simon, L. S., & Crawford, E. R. (2013). Hierarchical representations of the five-factor model of personality in predicting job performance:
 Integrating three organizing frameworks with two theoretical perspectives. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *98*(6), 875–925. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033901
- Kamoche, K., Pang, M., & Wong, A. L. (2011). Career development and knowledge appropriation: A genealogical critique. *Organization Studies*, *32*(12), 1665-1679. https://doi-org/10.1177%2F0170840611421249

- Knight, D. W., Sullivan, J. F., Poole, S. J., & Carlson, L. E. (2002, June). Skills assessment in hands-on learning and implications for gender differences in engineering education.
 In ASEE Annual Conference Proceedings (pp. 12975-12984).
- Kristof-Brown, A. L., Zimmerman, R. D., & Johnson, E. C. (2005). Consequences of individual's fit at work: A meta-analysis of person-job, person-organization, person-group, and person-supervisor fit. *Personnel Psychology*, 58(2), 281–342. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00672.x
- Leuty, M. E., & Hansen, J.-I. C. (2011). Evidence of construct validity for work values. *Journal* of Vocational Behavior, 79(2), 379–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2011.04.008
- Liao, H.-Y., Armstrong, P. I., & Rounds, J. (2008). Development and initial validation of public domain Basic Interest Markers. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 73(1), 159–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2007.12.002
- Marshall, W., & Craig, R. (2019). The dangers of skills-gap skepticism. *The Hill*. Available at https://thehill.com/opinion/finance/436350-the-dangers-of-skills-gap-skepticism
- McCloy, R. A., Campbell, J. P., & Cudeck, R. (1994). A confirmatory test of a model of performance determinants. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(4), 493– 505. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.79.4.493
- McCloy, R. A., Rottinghaus, P. J., Park, C. J., Feller, R., & Bloom, T. (2020). YouScience: mitigating the skills gap by addressing the gender imbalance in high-demand careers. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 13(3), 426-441.
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T., Jr. (1997). Personality trait structure as a human universal. American Psychologist, 52(5), 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.52.5.509

McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T., Jr. (2008). The five-factor theory of personality. In O. P. John, R.
W. Robins, & L. A. Pervin (Eds.), *Handbook of personality: Theory and research* (pp. 159–181). The Guilford Press.

Murphy, K. R. (1989). Is the relationship between cognitive ability and job performance stable over time? *Human Performance*, 2(3), 183–200. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327043hup0203_3

- National Research Council. (2010). A database for a changing economy: Review of the Occupational Information Network (O NET). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press42
- Nauta, M. M. (2007). Assessing college students' satisfaction with their academic majors. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 15(4), 446 462. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072707305762
- Nye, C. D., Su, R., Rounds, J., & Drasgow, F. (2017). Interest congruence and performance: Revisiting recent meta-analytic findings. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 98, 138– 151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2016.11.002
- Oh, I.-S., Guay, R. P., Kim, K., Harold, C. M., Lee, J.-H., Heo, C.-G., & Shin, K.-H. (2014). Fit happens globally: A meta-analytic comparison of the relationships of person– environment fit dimensions with work attitudes and performance across East Asia, Europe, and North America. *Personnel Psychology*, 67(1), 99–

152. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12026

Oswald, F. L., Behrend, T. S., & Foster, L. L. (Eds). (2019). Workforce readiness and the future of work. Routledge.

Palan, S., & Schitter, C. (2018). Prolific. ac—A subject pool for online experiments. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, 17, 22-27. https://doiorg/10.1016/j.jbef.2017.12.004

Peterson, N. G., Mumford, M. D., Borman, W. C., Jeanneret, P. R., Fleishman, E. A., Levin, K. Y., Campion, M. A., Mayfield, M. S., Morgeson, F. P., Pearlman, K., Gowing, M. K., Lancaster, A. R., Silver, M. B., & Dye, D. M. (2001). Understanding work using the occupational information network (O*NET). *Personnel Psychology*, *54*(2), 451–492. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2001.tb00100.x

- Putka, D. J., & McCloy, R. A. (2011). Building an interactive federal career exploration and discovery system: Phase I (FR-11-58). Human Resources Research Organization.
- Ros, M., Schwartz, S. H., & Surkiss, S. (1999). Basic individual values, work values, and the meaning of work. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 48(1), 49–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.1999.tb00048.x
- Rounds, J., Hoff, K. A, & Lewis, P. (2021). O*NET® interest profiler manual. U.S. Department of Labor National O*NET Resource Center.

https://www.onetcenter.org/reports/IP_Manual.html.

- Rounds, J., & Su, R. (2014). The nature and power of interests. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 23(2), 98–103. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721414522812
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68

Saks, A. M., & Ashforth, B. E. (1997). Organizational socialization: Making sense of the past and present as a prologue for the future. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 51(2), 234– 279. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1997.1614

Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, J. E. (1998). The validity and utility of selection methods in personnel psychology: Practical and theoretical implications of 85 years of research findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124(2), 262–274. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.124.2.262

- Schmidt, F. L., Hunter, J. E., & Outerbridge, A. N. (1986). Impact of job experience and ability on job knowledge, work sample performance, and supervisory ratings of job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *71*(3), 432– 439. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.71.3.432
- Schneider, B. (1987). The people make the place. *Personnel Psychology*, *40*(3), 437–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1987.tb00609.x
- Soto, C. J., & John, O. P. (2017). The next Big Five Inventory (BFI-2): Developing and assessing a hierarchical model with 15 facets to enhance bandwidth, fidelity, and predictive power. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *113*(1), 117– 143. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000096

Soto, C. J., Napolitano, C. M., & Roberts, B. W. (2021). Taking skills seriously: Toward an integrative model and agenda for social, emotional, and behavioral skills. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 30(1), 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721420978613

- Spurk, D., Hirschi, A., & Dries, N. (2019). Antecedents and outcomes of objective versus subjective career success: Competing perspectives and future directions. *Journal of Management*, 45(1), 35–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206318786563
- Su, R. (2020). The three faces of interests: An integrative review of interest research in vocational, organizational, and educational psychology. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *116*(Part B), Article 103240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.10.016
- Su, R., Murdock, C., & Rounds, J. (2015). Person-environment fit. In M. L. Savickas, P. J.
 Hartung, & W. B. Walsh (Eds.), APA handbook of career intervention (pp. 81–98).
 American Psychological Association.
- Su, R., Tay, L., Liao, H.-Y., Zhang, Q., & Rounds, J. (2019). Toward a dimensional model of vocational interests. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(5), 690– 714. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000373
- Sublett, C., & Tovar, J. (2021). Community college career and technical education and labor market projections: A national study of alignment. *Community College Review*, 49(2), 177-201. https://doi-org/10.1177%2F0091552120982008
- Swaney, K. B., Allen, J., Casillas, A., Hanson, M. A., & Robbins, S. B. (2012). Interests, work values, and occupations: Predicting work outcomes with the workkeys fit assessment. Journal of Career Assessment, 20, 359–374. doi:10.1177/1069072712448730

Tett, R. P., & Burnett, D. D. (2003). A personality trait-based interactionist model of job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(3), 500– 517. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.3.500

Thomas, K.N., Liu, Z., Hoff, K., Chu, C., Oswald, F., & Rounds, J. The occupational skills and knowledge inventory: Measure development study. [Manuscript in preparation].

- Tippins, N.T., & Margaret, L.H. (2010), A Database for a Changing Economy: Review of the Occupational Information Network (O* Net). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- U.S. Department of Labor Employment and Training Administration. CareerOneStop, Retrieved July 29, 2022 from https://www.careeronestop.org/.
- Van Iddekinge, C. H., Putka, D. J., & Campbell, J. P. (2011). Reconsidering vocational interests for personnel selection: The validity of an interest-based selection test in relation to job knowledge, job performance, and continuance intentions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96(1), 13–33. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021193
- Wiegand, J. P., Drasgow, F., & Rounds, J. (2021). Misfit matters: A re-examination of interest fit and job satisfaction. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 125, 103524. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.uh.edu/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103524
- Wilson, R. (2013). Skills anticipation—The future of work and education. *International Journal of Educational Research*, *61*, 101-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2013.03.013
- Xu, H., & Li, H. (2020). Operationalize interest congruence: A comparative examination of four approaches. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 28(4), 571–588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072720909825
- Zhang, X. A., Liao, H., Li, N., & Colbert, A. E. (2020). Playing it safe for my family: Exploring the dual effects of family motivation on employee productivity and creativity. *Academy* of Management Journal, 63(6), 1923-1950. https://doi-org/10.5465/amj.2018.0680

Study 1: Descriptive Statistics of Person-Occupation Fit, Inter-relationships, and Correlations with Career Outcomes

		М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1	Basic interests fit	0.17	0.32									
2	Personality fit	0.08	0.32	0.09^{*}								
3	Value fit	0.25	0.72	0.16^{***}	0.10^{*}							
4	Knowledge fit	0.31	0.33	0.36***	0.05	0.21***						
5	Skill fit	0.21	0.35	0.25^{***}	0.05	0.19***	0.40^{***}					
6	Career choice satisfaction	3.61	1.16	0.29^{***}	0.13***	0.21***	0.20^{***}	0.11^{**}				
7	Job satisfaction	3.62	1.03	0.26^{***}	0.13***	0.17^{***}	0.21^{***}	0.11^{**}	0.78^{***}			
8	Needs-supplies fit	3.45	1.14	0.30^{***}	0.12^{***}	0.17^{***}	0.16^{***}	0.08	0.72^{***}	0.78^{***}		
9	Demands-abilities fit	3.85	1.10	0.22^{***}	0.13***	0.16***	0.21***	0.14^{***}	0.62^{***}	0.67^{***}	0.72^{***}	

Note. N ranges from 567 to 768 in the Prolific sample. M = Mean; SD = Standard deviation.

* p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001.

	Uncorrected		Corrected			
	Dominance Weight (SD)	Rank (SD)	Dominance Weight (SD)	Rank (SD)		
Career choice satisfac	ction					
Basic interests fit	.06 (.02)	1.08 (.27)	.07 (.02)	1.11 (.35)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	3.98 (.85)	.01 (.01)	4.32 (1.10)		
Value fit	.03 (.01)	2.27 (.68)	.03 (.01)	2.33 (.80)		
Knowledge fit	.02 (.01)	2.96 (.72)	.02 (.01)	3.25 (1.02)		
Skill fit	.01 (.003)	4.92 (.58)	.01 (.004)	5.26 (.81)		
R^2	.14 (.02)		.16 (.02)			
Job satisfaction						
Basic interests fit	.05 (.02)	1.25 (.63)	.05 (.02)	1.21 (.52)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	3.83 (1.20)	.01 (.01)	3.93 (1.04)		
Value fit	.02 (.01)	3.03 (1.06)	.02 (.01)	3.03 (1.08)		
Knowledge fit	.03 (.01)	2.55 (1.03)	.03 (.01)	2.45 (.91)		
Skill fit	.01 (.003)	5.19 (.77)	.01 (.01)	4.84 (.87)		
R^2	.12 (.03)		.13 (.03)			
Needs-supplies fit						
Basic interests fit	.07 (.02)	1.01 (.10)	.07 (.02)	1.01 (.10)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	3.46 (1.09)	.01 (.01)	3.80 (1.10)		
Value fit	.02 (.01)	2.77 (.97)	.02 (.01)	2.66 (.98)		
Knowledge fit	.02 (.01)	3.09 (.82)	.02 (.01)	3.22 (.96)		
Skill fit	.004 (.003)	4.96 (.60)	.004 (.002)	5.29 (.73)		
R^2	.12 (.03)		.13 (.03)			
Demands-abilities fit						
Basic interests fit	.03 (.01)	1.73 (.96)	.03 (.01)	1.70 (.94)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	3.85 (1.15)	.01 (.01)	3.97 (1.29)		
Value fit	.02 (.01)	3.36 (1.32)	.02 (.01)	3.52 (1.26)		
Knowledge fit	.03 (.01)	2.07 (1.04)	.03 (.01)	2.00 (.95)		
Skill fit	.01 (.01)	4.15 (1.02)	.01 (.01)	4.13 (1.13)		
R^2	.10 (.02)		.11 (.02)			

Study 1 Results of Dominance Analyses in the Prolific Sample

Note. N ranges from 567 to 571. Criterion reliability was corrected.

Studies 2 and 3: Descriptive Statistics of Person-Occupation Fit, Inter-relationships, and Correlations with Career Outcomes

		М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1	Basic Interest fit	0.14/0.19	0.28/0.33	-	0.14	0.11	0.31***	0.22^{**}	0.31***	0.30***	0.29^{***}	0.29***
2	Personality fit	0.02/0.06	0.31/0.36	0.13	-	0.09	0.13	0.10	0.02	0.00	0.04	-0.01
3	Value fit	0.19/0.16	0.67/0.63	0.09	0.03	-	0.07	0.14	0.02	-0.02	0.05	0.05
4	Knowledge fit	0.27/0.17	0.34/0.31	0.28^{***}	0.13*	0.22^{***}	-	0.44^{***}	0.17^{*}	0.18^{*}	0.16	0.18^{*}
5	Skill fit	0.15/0.07	0.34/0.32	0.11	0.12	0.15^{*}	0.38***	-	0.13	0.15	0.20^{*}	0.29^{***}
6	Career choice satisfaction	3.60/3.65	0.90/0.89	0.28^{***}	0.08	0.14^{*}	0.10	0.12	-	0.71^{***}	0.67^{***}	0.60^{***}
7	Job satisfaction	3.52/3.50	0.85/0.84	0.21**	-0.03	0.14^{*}	0.06	0.05	0.69***	-	0.74^{***}	0.65^{***}
8	Needs-supplies fit	3.34/3.39	0.96/0.98	0.21**	0.06	-0.01	0.09	0.08	0.59^{***}	0.70^{***}	-	0.70^{***}
9	Demands-abilities fit	3.77/3.70	0.80/0.89	0.13*	0.04	0.06	0.19**	0.05	0.49***	0.55^{***}	0.60^{***}	-

Note. N ranges from 238 to 388 for Study 2 (bachelor's degree graduates). N ranges from 147 to 264 for Study 3 (community college

graduates). Correlation coefficients in Study 2 were presented below the diagonal, and correlation coefficients in Study 3 were

presented above the diagonal. M = Mean; SD = Standard deviation.

* p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001.

	Uncorrected		Corrected			
	Dominance Weight (SD)	Rank (SD)	Dominance Weight (SD)	Rank (SD)		
Career choice satisfac	ction					
Basic interests fit	.07 (.03)	1.10 (.33)	.08 (.03)	1.06 (.34)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	4.94 (1.19)	.01 (.01)	4.73 (1.34)		
Value fit	.02 (.01)	3.42 (1.31)	.02 (.02)	3.06 (1.28)		
Knowledge fit	.01 (.01)	4.46 (1.13)	.01 (.01)	4.50 (1.05)		
Skill fit	.01 (.01)	3.49 (1.43)	.01 (.01)	4.04 (1.35)		
R^2	.13 (.04)		.15 (.04)			
Job satisfaction						
Basic interests fit	.04 (.03)	1.32 (.63)	.05 (.03)	1.35 (.81)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	4.34 (1.40)	.01 (.01)	4.30 (1.38)		
Value fit	.02 (.02)	2.48 (1.26)	.02 (.02)	2.48 (1.24)		
Knowledge fit	.01 (.005)	4.11 (1.18)	.01 (.005)	3.99 (1.11)		
Skill fit	.01 (.01)	4.37 (1.32)	.01 (.01)	4.10 (1.47)		
R^2	.09 (.03)		.10 (.04)			
Needs-supplies fit						
Basic interests fit	.04 (.02)	1.31 (.85)	.05 (.03)	1.30 (.63)		
Personality fit	.004 (.005)	4.46 (1.34)	.01 (.01)	4.21 (1.52)		
Value fit	.004 (.005)	4.60 (1.35)	.01 (.01)	4.22 (1.53)		
Knowledge fit	.01 (.01)	3.65 (1.33)	.01 (.01)	3.92 (1.42)		
Skill fit	.01 (.01)	3.70 (1.39)	.01 (.01)	3.94 (1.38)		
R^2	.07 (.03)		.09 (.04)			
Demands-abilities fit						
Basic interests fit	.02 (.02)	2.66 (1.49)	.01 (.01)	3.07 (1.53)		
Personality fit	.004 (.005)	4.31 (1.27)	.01 (.01)	4.65 (1.35)		
Value fit	.005 (.01)	4.26 (1.43)	.01 (.01)	4.14 (1.44)		
Knowledge fit	.04 (.02)	1.33 (.70)	.04 (.02)	1.39 (.78)		
Skill fit	.01 (.01)	3.77 (1.21)	.01 (.01)	4.07 (1.17)		
R^2	.07 (.03)		08 (.03)			

Study 2: Results of Dominance Analyses in the Sample of Bachelor's Degree Graduates

Note. N ranges from 238 to 243. Criterion reliability was corrected.

	Uncorrected		Corrected			
	Dominance Weight (SD)	Rank (SD)	Dominance Weight (SD)	Rank (SD)		
Career choice satisfac	ction					
Basic interests fit	.09 (.04)	1.20 (.60)	.09 (.03)	1.20 (.49)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	5.02 (1.13)	.01 (.01)	5.14 (1.12)		
Value fit	.01 (.01)	4.89 (1.14)	.01 (.01)	4.79 (1.20)		
Knowledge fit	.02 (.02)	3.15 (1.18)	.02 (.02)	3.39 (1.09)		
Skill fit	.01 (.01)	3.78 (1.28)	.02 (.02)	3.78 (1.25)		
R^2	.17 (.05)		.18 (.06)			
Job satisfaction						
Basic interests fit	.08 (.04)	1.18 (.48)	.09 (.05)	1.33 (.57)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	4.61 (1.25)	.01 (.01)	4.83 (1.23)		
Value fit	.01 (.01)	4.51 (1.42)	.01 (.02)	4.28 (1.52)		
Knowledge fit	.02 (.02)	3.10 (1.36)	.02 (.02)	3.32 (1.39)		
Skill fit	.02 (.02)	3.39 (1.25)	.02 (.02)	3.50 (1.38)		
R^2	.15 (.05)		.18 (.07)			
Needs-supplies fit						
Basic interests fit	.06 (.03)	1.28 (.60)	.07 (.03)	1.38 (.65)		
Personality fit	.005 (.01)	4.97 (1.12)	.01 (.01)	4.86 (1.12)		
Value fit	.01 (.01)	4.22 (1.39)	.01 (.02)	4.47 (1.50)		
Knowledge fit	.01 (.01)	3.51 (1.13)	.02 (.01)	3.46 (1.07)		
Skill fit	.03 (.03)	2.57 (1.21)	.04 (.03)	2.51 (1.36)		
R^2	.13 (.05)		.15 (.05)			
Demands-abilities fit						
Basic interests fit	.07 (.03)	1.58 (.65)	.08 (.04)	1.67 (.91)		
Personality fit	.01 (.01)	4.95 (1.12)	.01 (.01)	4.88 (1.09)		
Value fit	.01 (.01)	4.70 (1.13)	.01 (.01)	4.68 (1.23)		
Knowledge fit	.02 (.01)	3.54 (.86)	.03 (.02)	3.48 (.92)		
Skill fit	.07 (.04)	1.67 (.77)	.08 (.04)	1.68 (.78)		
R^2 .19 (.05)			.22 (.05)			

Study 3 Results of Dominance Analyses in the Sample of Community College Graduates

Note. N ranges from 147 to 152. Criterion reliability was corrected.

Figure 1



Study 1 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Prolific Sample

Note. N ranges from 567 to 571. Criterion reliability was corrected.

Figure 2



Study 2 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Sample of Bachelor's Degree Graduates

Note. N ranges from 238 to 243. Criterion reliability was corrected.

Figure 3



Study 3 Results of Dominance Analysis in the Sample of Community College Graduates

Note. N ranges from 147 to 152. Criterion reliability was corrected.

Appendices

A. The Development and Validation of the Integrative Fit Assessments

The development of our integrative assessment included three phases: item generation, item content review by subject matter experts, and item reduction and selection (Hinkin, 1998).

In the first phase, items for the five individual difference domains were developed based on two major sources, existing measures and occupational information from O*NET. Specifically, for basic interests, we examined common RIASEC inventories and pre-existing basic interest scales (Liao et al., 2008; Su et al., 2019). For personality, we adapted from the Big Five Inventory and the HEXACO Personality Inventory. For work values, we examined previous scales of career values (e.g., Abessolo et al., 2021; Consiglio et al., 2017). For knowledge and skills, we primarily relied on knowledge, skills, and abilities directly extracted from the O*NET database. However, some of these variables were already included in the Career One Stop's Skills Matcher (U.S. Department of Labor Employment and Training Administration, 2019). For each domain, some necessary components were not included in any of these pre-existing measures (e.g., Counseling, Customer Service, and Transportation for basic interests), or preexisting items were improper in breadth or difficult to understand. In such cases, we created new items to ensure the content coverage and quality of the items.

Following item generation, we had a panel of three professors and three graduate students review all the items for clarity and parsimony. We next mapped the measures of personal attributes to occupational descriptors from O*NET. Specifically, basic interests and knowledge were connected to knowledge variables. We decided to use basic interests because of its greater predictive power for career outcomes compared to the RIASEC model. Personality was connected with work style variables. Work values were matched to information about work

values, work contexts, and work activities. Skills correspond to a wide range of ability and skill variables. To ensure further alignment between our new measures and occupational variables in the O*NET database, the same panel reviewed the matching and agreed each measure was adequately and properly connected to the corresponding occupational variables.

At the stage of item reduction and selection, we referred to the correlational structure, distributional qualities, and content of the items based on the data collected in Study 1. Specifically, we used factor analyses to examine the inter-item correlational structure of the measure, identifying items that did and did not fit the expected structure of the measure. In general, we sought to retain items that (1) loaded strongly onto the expected subscale (both in the absolute sense and relative to the others), (2) had greater conceptual similarity to the specified O*NET variables, (3) added theoretically meaningful content to the scale, (4) were minimally skewed, and (5) were proper for self-reports. We present a full list of the items and their corresponding occupational variables from O*NET in Appendix B.

Scale Items	Corresponding O*NET Variables				
Basic Interests					
Mechanics					
Repair car engines	Machanical				
Perform aircraft maintenance	Weenamear				
Install radio communication systems					
Construction					
Build wood wall shelves	Building and Construction				
Build kitchen cabinets	Dunding and Construction				
Sand and refinish a piece of furniture					
Engineering					
Design a structure that can withstand heavy wind	Engineering and Technology				
Develop lighter and stronger materials for new products	Engineering and reenhology				
Redesign a production line to improve its efficiency					
Transportation					
Drive a bus	Transportation				
Drive a delivery truck	Transportation				
Operate a train					
Physical Science	Chamistry				
Study the formation and evolution of galaxies	Physics:				
Analyze a mineral sample found on Mars	Geography				
Study the causes for earthquakes and tsunamis					
Medical Science					
Investigate the cause of a chronic health problem	Medicine and Dentistry				
Research the side effects of a medicine	Medicine and Dentistry				
Investigate prevention methods for diseases					
Math	Mathematics				

B. A Full List of the Scale Items and Connection with O*NET Variables

Solve mathematical problems Learn about a new theory in geometry Use mathematical equations to solve practical problems **Social Science** Investigate how poverty influences educational attainment Study the effects of public policy on violence reduction Research why people have stereotypes and prejudice Design Create a piece of artistic and functional furniture Create the set for a movie or stage play Design the layout and lighting of an exhibition Arts Sketch a picture Paint a landscape Draw illustrations for a book Writing Write a novel Write short stories Study creative writing Teaching Teach students a new set of skills Explain a topic to someone with no prior knowledge Teach a beginner how to perform a task Counseling Help people with family problems Help conduct a group therapy session Helping kids through interpersonal problems **Customer service** Greet customers and answer questions

Psychology; Sociology and Anthropology Design Fine Arts English Language; Communications and Media **Education and Training** Therapy and Counseling **Customer and Personal Service**

Assist clients planning for special occasions	
Work in customer service	
Management	
Manage a medium-sized organization	Administration and Managamant
Supervise a large number of employees	Administration and Management
Serve as the president of a professional association	
Sales & Marketing	
Persuade customers to try a new product	Salas and Markating
Increase sales for a company during a promotion week	Sales and Marketing
Sell services to a target group of people	
Law and Government/Politics	
Present arguments in a courtroom	Law and Government
Resolve legal disputes between parties	Law and Government
Lead a committee to make policy decisions	
Finance and Accounting	
Analyze the financial statements of a company	Economics and Accounting
Monitor account balance and prepare monthly statements	Economics and Accounting
Calculate tax deductions for a business	
Computers	
Create a new computer database	Computers and Electronics
Monitor the daily performance of computer systems	Computers and Electromes
Diagnose and resolve computer hardware or software problems	
Office Work	
Enter personnel records into a computer program	Clorical
Catalog files in an office	Clencal
Print and disseminate documents to be used at a conference	
Personality	
Extraversion - Sociability	Social Orientation (Work Styles)
Is outgoing, sociable	Social Orientation (Work Styles)

Tends to be quiet **Extraversion - Assertiveness** Is dominant, acts as a leader Prefers to have others take charge **Extraversion - Energy Level** Is less active than other people Is full of energy **Agreeableness - Compassion** Is compassionate, has a soft heart Can be cold and uncaring **Agreeableness - Respectfulness** Is respectful, treats others with respect Is sometimes rude to others **Agreeableness - Trust** Tends to find fault with others Assumes the best about people **Conscientiousness - Organization** Tends to be disorganized Keeps things neat and tidy **Conscientiousness - Productiveness** Has difficulty getting started on tasks Is persistent, works until the task is finished **Conscientiousness - Responsibility** Can be somewhat careless Is reliable, can always be counted on **Emotional Stability - Anxiety** Is relaxed, handles stress well Worries a lot **Emotional Stability - Emotional Volatility**

Leadership (Work Styles) Initiative (Work Styles) Concern for Others (Work Styles) Cooperation (Work Styles) Cooperation (Work Styles) Attention to Detail (Work Styles) Persistence (Work Styles) Dependability (Work Styles) Stress Tolerance (Work Styles) Self Control (Work Styles)

Is emotionally stable, not easily upset Is temperamental, gets emotional easily **Openness - Intellectual Curiosity** Is complex, a deep thinker Has little interest in abstract Ideas **Openness - Aesthetic Sensitivity** Has few artistic interests Is fascinated by art, music, or literature **Openness - Creative Imagination** Has little creativity Is original, comes up with new Ideas Integrity Would never steal, even if I knew I could get away with it. Always follows the rules Would cheat to win a game Work Values Management Supervise other people's work Coordinate or lead others Be responsible for others' work **Outdoors** Work outside Be out in nature while I work **Physical** Perform physical work tasks Get exercise while I work Salary Have a high salary Make enough money to buy expensive things

Critical Thinking (Skills - Basic Skills)

Artistic (Interests)

Innovation (Work Styles)

Integrity (Work Styles)

Guiding, Directing, and Motivating Subordinates (Work Activities); Coordinate or Lead Others (Work Activities); Responsibility for Outcomes and Results (Work Context)

Outdoors, Under Cover (Work Context); Outdoors, Exposed to Weather (Work Context)

Performing General Physical Activities (Work Activities); Spend Time Walking and Running (Work Context)

Median Annual Salary (Bureau of Labor Statistics)

Prestige

Have a prestigious career
Have a high-status career
Altruism
Provide personal care to others
Build and maintain personal relationships
Provide service to others
Help others develop and grow
Occupational Knowledge
Biology: plant, animal and cell functions
Chemistry: chemical processes and their applications
Communications and Media: conveying information using written, oral,
and visual media
Computers and Electronics: computer hardware and software, including
applications and programming
Construction: building materials, methods, and tools
Customer Service: handling customer needs and resolving service
problems
Design: designing techniques, tools, and principles
Economics and Accounting: principles and practices of accounting, economics, and financial markets
Engineering & Technology: practical applications of engineering science
Fine Arts: developing art forms, such as music, painting, or drama
Food Production: planting, growing, and harvesting food products
Law & Government: legal codes, court procedures, government
regulations, and political processes
Managing others: leading other people and business planning
Mathematics: using arithmetic, algebra, geometry, calculus, and statistics
Mechanics: designing, using, repairing, and maintaining machines
Medicine and Dentistry: providing health care

Recognition (Work Values)

Assisting and Caring for Others (Work Activities); Establishing and Maintaining Interpersonal Relationships (Work Activities); Relationships (Work Values); Coaching and Developing Others (Work Activities)

Biology Chemistry

Communications and Media

Computers and Electronics

Building and Construction

Customer and Personnel Service

Design

Economics and Accounting

Engineering and Technology

Fine Arts Food Production

Law and Government

Administration and Management Mathematics Mechanical Medicine and Dentistry

Office Work: completing administrative and clerical work, such as word processing and managing records

Personnel and Human Resources: principles and procedures for recruiting, hiring, and training employees

Physics: physical principles, laws, and their applications

Production and Processing: overseeing manufacturing and distribution processes

Psychology: methods of research, assessment, and treatment of human behavior

Public Safety and Security: equipment, procedures, and strategies to promote security operations

Sales and Marketing: promoting and selling products or services

Sociology and Anthropology: theories of group behavior, societal trends, and human culture

Teaching and Course Design: applying methods and principles of instruction

Therapy and Counseling: applying principles and methods used in counseling

Transportation: principles and methods for moving people or goods by air, rail, sea, or road

Skills

Body Coordination: moving your arms, legs, and body together

Complex Problem Solving: figuring out the best way to solve a difficult problem

Creative Thinking: developing original ways to solve a problem

Financial Management: determining how money will be spent to get work done

Finger Dexterity: controlling your fingers to precisely to manipulate small objects

Helping People: understanding how to help others in need Instructing: teaching people how to do something

Clerical

Personnel and Human Resources

Physics

Production and Processing

Psychology

Public Safety and Security

Sales and Marketing

Sociology and Anthropology

Education and Training

Therapy and Counseling

Transportation

Gross Body Coordination (Abilities - Physical Abilities) Complex Problem Solving (Skills - Complex Problem Solving Skills) Originality (Abilities - Cognitive Abilities) Management of Financial Resources (Skills -Resource Management Skills)

Finger Dexterity (Abilities - Psychomotor Abilities)

Service Orientation (Skills - Social Skills) Instructing (Skills - Social Skills)

Persuasion: convincing others to change their minds or behavior	Persuasion (Skills - Social Skills)
Physical Strength: using muscle force to lift, push, pull, or carry objects	Static Strength (Abilities - Physical Abilities)
Programming: writing computer programs for various purposes	Programming (Skills - Technical Skills)
Repairing: fixing machines using tools	Repairing (Skills - Technical Skills)
Science: using scientific rules and methods to solve problems	Science (Skills - Basic Skills)
Social Coordination: Adjusting actions in relation to others' actions	Coordination (Skills - Social Skills)
Social Perceptiveness: understanding others' reactions and behaviors	Social Perceptiveness (Skills - Social Skills)
Speaking: talking to others to convey information effectively	Speaking (Skills - Basic Skills)
Technology Design: building and adapting new technology	Technology Design (Skills - Technical Skills)
Time Management: managing your own time and the time of others	Time Management (Skills - Resource Management Skills)
Troubleshooting: identifying and fixing problems in machines or technology	Troubleshooting (Skills - Technical Skills)
Writing: communicating effectively in writing	Writing (Skills - Basic Skills)

Note. When multiple O*NET variables are matched with a single personal variable, an average score was calculated to represent the occupational variable.

C. Demographic Information of Participants in the Research

Table A1

Study 1: Demographic Information of the Prolific Sample

Variable	Mean	SD	N	%
Age	45.80	16.06		
Gender				
Male			375	48.8
Female			383	49.9
Other or Prefer not to say			10	1.3
Ethnicity				
Asian/Asian			57	7.4
Black/African			96	12.5
Latino/Hispanic			26	3.4
Native American/First Nations			2	0.3
White/European			549	71.5
Other or Prefer not to say			38	4.9
Education				
Less than high school			2	0.3
High school or GED			78	10.2
Some college			149	19.4
Associate's degree (1 to 2-year program)			80	10.4
College or undergraduate degree (4-year program)			284	37.0
Graduate degree (e.g., M.A., M.D., Ph.D.)			175	22.8
Relationship status				
Married			320	41.7
In a long-term relationship (but not married)			129	16.8
Divorced			74	9.6
Widowed			12	1.6
Single			226	29.4
Other or Prefer not to say			7	0.9

Note. N = 768.
Table A2

Variable	Mean	SD	N	%
Age	22.56	2.56		
Gender				
Male			99	24.9
Female			290	73.0
Other or Prefer not to say			8	2.0
Ethnicity				
Asian/Asian			147	37.0
Black/African			19	4.8
Latino/Hispanic			88	22.2
White/European			131	33.0
Other or Prefer not to say			12	3.0
Education				
High school or GED			6	1.5
Some college			12	3
Associate's degree (1 to 2-year program)			5	1.3
College or undergraduate degree (4-year program)			374	94.2
Relationship status				
Married			18	4.5
In a relationship (not married)			83	20.9
Single			214	53.9
In a long-term relationship (but not			78	19.6
Other or Prefer not to say			4	1.0

Studies 2 Demographic Information of the Sample of Bachelor's Degree Graduates

Note. *N* = 397.

Table A3

Variable	Mean	SD	Ν	%
Age	24.65	7.64		
Gender				
Male			45	16.2
Female			219	79.1
Other or Prefer not to say			13	4.7
Ethnicity				
Asian/Asian			44	15.9
Black/African			26	9.4
Latino/Hispanic			117	42.2
White/European			80	28.9
Other or Prefer not to say			10	3.6
Education				
Less than high school			2	0.7
High school or GED			15	5.4
Some college			58	20.9
Associate's degree (1 to 2-year program)			175	63.2
College or undergraduate degree (4-year program)			24	8.7
Graduate degree (e.g., M.A., M.D., Ph.D.)			1	0.4
Other or Prefer not to say			2	0.7
Relationship status				
Married			48	17.3
In a relationship (not married)			44	15.9
Divorced			5	1.8
Single			133	48.0
In a long-term relationship (but not married)			38	13.7
Other or Prefer not to say			9	3.2

Study 3 Demographic Information of the Sample of Community College Graduates

Note. *N* = 277.